OXONIENSIA

A refereed journal dealing with the archaeology, history and architecture of Oxford and Oxfordshire

VOLUME 78
2013

PUBLISHED AND SOLD BY
THE OXFORDSHIRE ARCHITECTURAL & HISTORICAL SOCIETY
ASHMOLEAN MUSEUM, OXFORD
## Contents

Officers and Committee of the Oxfordshire Architectural and Historical Society  vii  
Cover Illustrations  viii  
List of Abbreviations  ix  
List of Contributors  x  

**ARTICLES**  

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Title</th>
<th>Page</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Prehistoric Oxford (The Tom Hassall Lecture for 2012)</td>
<td>1</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>GEORGE LAMBRICK</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>The Origins of Wessex Pilot Project</td>
<td>49</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>HELENA HAMEROW, CHRIS FERGUSON and JOHN NAYLOR</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Beakhead Decoration on Romanesque Arches in the Upper Thames Valley</td>
<td>71</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>JANET NEWSON</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>New Light on the Abingdon Monks' Map</td>
<td>87</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>MANFRED BROD</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>The Burford School of Masons</td>
<td>99</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>MELODY MOBUS</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>The Building Stones of Oxfordshire Villages</td>
<td>115</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>W.T. HORSFIELD, D.M. DANE, L. DUNLOP, W. FULLER and R. MARCHANT</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Sir Gilbert Scott's Restoration of Christ Church Cathedral</td>
<td>127</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>E.G.W. BILL edited by PETER HOWELL</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>The Belfry at Christ Church</td>
<td>157</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>E.G.W. BILL edited by MICHAEL HALL</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

**REPORTS**  

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Title</th>
<th>Page</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Anglo-Saxon and Prehistoric Remains at Oxford Academy, Littlemore, Oxford: Excavations in 2009</td>
<td>175</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>ANDREW MUDD, MARK BRETT and MARY ALEXANDER</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Evidence for a Stephanic Siege Castle at the Lister Wilder Site, The Street, Crowmarsh Gifford</td>
<td>189</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>GREG LABAN</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

**NOTES**  

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Title</th>
<th>Page</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Archaeological Work in Oxford, 2012</td>
<td>213</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>DAVID RADFORD</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Archaeological Work in Oxfordshire, 2012</td>
<td>217</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>HUGH CODDINGTON, RICHARD ORAM and SUSAN LISK</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>The Portable Antiquities Scheme in Oxfordshire, 2012</td>
<td>221</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>ANNI BYARD</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Lost and Found: A Flint Dagger from the River Thames at Henley</td>
<td>225</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>CATE FRIEMAN</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>An Alternative Interpretation of the Finds from the 'Boundary Ditch' of Shakenoak Roman Villa</td>
<td>227</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>JOHN HUNT†</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
REVIEWS

Christopher Dyer

Nat Alcock and Dan Miles, The Medieval Peasant House in Midland England
David Clark

Christopher Dyer, A Country Merchant, 1495–1520: Trading and Farming at the End of the Middle Ages
R.B. Peberdy

Alan Crossley, Oxford City Apprentices, 1513–1602
Christine Jackson

Helen Moore and Julian Reid (eds.), Manifold Greatness: The Making of the King James Bible
R.B. Peberdy

Jeremy Gibson (ed.) and Gwyn de Jong (trans.), Oxfordshire Contributors to the Free and Voluntary Present to King Charles II, 1661; Jeremy Gibson (ed.), Politics and Loyalty in Post-Revolution Oxfordshire: The ’1690’ County Parliamentary Poll; The Association Oath Rolls, 1695–6
Adrienne Rosen

William Marshall, Church Life in Hereford and Oxford 1660–1760: A Study of Two Sees
R.B. Peberdy

Barrie Trinder

Shaun Morley (ed.), Oxfordshire Friendly Societies, 1750–1918
K.D.M. Snell

Christopher Sladen, Oxfordshire Colony: Turners Court Farm School, Wallingford, 1911–1991
Pamela Horn†

S.J.D. Green and Peregrine Horden (eds.), All Souls and the Wider World: Statesmen, Scholars, and Adventurers, c.1850–1950
J.M. Lee

Index
THE OXFORDSHIRE ARCHITECTURAL AND HISTORICAL SOCIETY

OFFICERS AND COMMITTEE 2013

PRESIDENT
C. DAY, M.A., F.S.A.

VICE-PRESIDENTS
T.H. WILSON, M.A., M.PHIL., F.S.A.
J.R.L. HIGHFIELD, M.A., D.PHIL., F.S.A.
MISS G.M. BRIGGS, M.A.

COMMITTEE

Honorary Secretary J. HIND
Honorary Treasurer D.R. CLARK
Editor S.A. MILESON (St Edmund Hall, Oxford, OX1 4AR)
Membership Secretary S. MORLEY (Tithe Corner, 67 Hill Crescent, Finstock, Chipping Norton, OX7 3BT)

Honorary Auditor J.A. HUDSON
Honorary Librarian J. MUNBY
Honorary Reviews Editor R.B. PEBERDY (38 Randolph Street, Oxford, OX4 1XZ)
Oxford City and County Archaeological Forum G.H. LAMBRICK (Chairman) R. AINSLIE (Hon. Secretary)
Sub-Committee for Listed Buildings D.R. CLARK (Chairman) E. WOOLLEY (Hon. Secretary)
Webmaster T. DODD
Ordinary Members A. LANG
A REPRESENTATIVE OF THE OXFORD UNIVERSITY ARCHAEOLOGICAL SOCIETY
Abbreviations

Abbreviated titles are used in each article after the first full citation. In addition, the following are used throughout the volume or in particular articles:

BAR British Archaeological Reports (Oxford, 1974–)
BAR BS British Archaeological Reports, British Series
BAR IS British Archaeological Reports, International Series
BL British Library, London
Bodl. Bodleian Library, Oxford
BRO Berkshire Record Office
CBM ceramic building material
CCA Christ Church Archive, Oxford
EPNS English Place-Names Society
EVE estimated vessel equivalent
Fig./Figs. figure/figures
f./ff. folio/folios
Hants. RO Hampshire Record Office
HER Historic Environment Record
IFA Institute of Field Archaeologists
JMHS John Moore Heritage Services
MOLA Museum of London Archaeology
MedArch Medieval Archaeology (London, 1958–)
MS manuscript
n. note
n.d. no date
ns new series
OA Oxford Archaeology
OBR Oxfordshire Buildings Record
OD Ordnance Datum
OED Oxford English Dictionary
OHC Oxfordshire History Centre (formerly Oxfordshire Record Office)
OHS Oxford Historical Society
ORS Oxfordshire Record Society
OS Ordnance Survey
os old/original series
OXCMS Oxfordshire County Museums Service
r. recto
RCHME Royal Commission on Historical Monuments (England)
SMidlA South Midlands Archaeology (Oxford, 1983–) (formerly CBA Group 9 Newsletter)
TNA: PRO The National Archives, Public Record Office, Kew
TS typescript
TVAS Thames Valley Archaeological Services
UC University College Archives
v. verso
VA Vernacular Architecture (York, 1970–)
VCH Victoria History of the Counties of England (London, 1900–) [Victoria County History]
vol. volume
Contributors

MARY ALEXANDER, Cotswold Archaeology
MARK BRETT, Cotswold Archaeology
MANFRED BROD, local historian
ANNI BYARD, Portable Antiquities Scheme
HUGH CODDINGTON, Oxfordshire County Council
D.M. DANE, Oxford Geology Trust member
L. DUNLOP, Oxford Geology Trust member
CHRIS FERGUSON, Curator of Archaeology, Oxfordshire Museums Service
CATE FRIEMAN, Lecturer in European Archaeology, The Australian National University
W. FULLER, Oxford Geology Trust member
MICHAEL HALL, architectural historian
HELENA HAMEROW, Professor of Early Medieval Archaeology, School of Archaeology, University of Oxford
W.T. HORSFIELD, Oxford Geology Trust member
PETER HOWELL, classicist and architectural historian
JOHN HUNT†, formerly professor in the Department of Materials, University of Oxford
GREG LABAN, Museum of London Archaeology
GEORGE LAMBRICK, formerly President of OAHS
SUSAN LISK, Oxfordshire County Council
R. MARCHANT, Oxford Geology Trust member
MELODY MOBUS, local historian
ANDREW MUDD, Cotswold Archaeology
JOHN NAYLOR, Ashmolean Museum, University of Oxford
JANET NEWSON, voluntary fieldworker for the Corpus of Romanesque Sculpture in Britain and Ireland
RICHARD ORAM, Oxfordshire County Council
DAVID RADFORD, Oxford City Council
Lost and Found: A Flint Dagger from the River Thames at Henley

This paper discusses a previously misidentified flint dagger in the collection of the Pitt Rivers Museum in Oxford which was found in the Thames at Henley during the nineteenth century (accession code: 1892.66.5). It is the only complete flint dagger currently known from Oxfordshire (Fig. 1). The dagger was rediscovered during research carried out for the Developing Archaeo-Prosopography Project, funded by the John Fell Fund of the University of Oxford and by the Prehistoric Society.

In the eighty years since W.F. Grimes published his seminal typology of British early Bronze-Age flint daggers,1 our understanding of these objects has not greatly changed. Grimes saw them as an intrinsic part of the Bell Beaker culture, primarily visible as funerary goods, and recent research has not questioned that attribution.2 Similarly, Grimes' maps of flint dagger distribution have not been questioned and have only been added to in piecemeal fashion, for example in the addition of a full distribution of flint daggers found in Wales.3

None of the 145 flint daggers and dagger fragments recorded by Grimes is listed as coming from pre-1974 Oxfordshire. One of his three Berkshire finds, from the Abingdon causewayed enclosure, lies within the modern county, but thanks to a better understanding of the material culture and chronology of the British Neolithic and Bronze Age, this piece is now identifiable as a middle Neolithic ovate knife, rather than an early Bronze-Age flint dagger.4 Few daggers have subsequently been discovered in or around Oxfordshire. One has been found in Gloucestershire, one in Warwickshire, three in Berkshire and two in Buckinghamshire. The eight in Wiltshire cluster mainly in the Stonehenge area and the five in Northamptonshire are located in the east of the county, on the edge of the area of extremely

dense flint dagger deposition in East Anglia. A dagger tip found in Swyncombe in the far south of Oxfordshire in the 1950s has not been located in any museum collection and nothing is known about its appearance.5

This sparse evidence makes the complete flint dagger found in the Thames near Henley of particular interest. The piece, erroneously recorded as a 'sub-oval flint knife' in the museum catalogue, is actually a very fine, bifacially worked flint dagger. It is 140 mm long, 50 mm at its widest point and roughly lozenge shaped, with the blade end slightly wider than the handle end which tapers to a rounded butt. In profile, it is lenticular and flat, 8 mm thick at the blade thickening to 10 mm at the handle end. The blade is slightly asymmetrical, perhaps due to it having been resharpened. Resharpening probably also accounts for the slightly finer retouch on the blade end. The blade and handle ends are clearly distinguishable by the smooth, rounded edges on the latter end. The blade makes up 69 mm of the total length. The dagger is made in a very high-quality, translucent, dark brown flint, and scaled knapping scars cover both faces. There are traces of handling polish on both faces of the blade and handle. Although the Pitt Rivers catalogue lists the presence of cortex on one face, this most likely refers to a small, chalky inclusion which had been knapped across.

The name of the collector, J.C. Clutterbuck, is written on one face in red paint along with the year 1872, the presumed date of acquisition. Clutterbuck, vicar of Long Wittenham (formerly Berks.) 1829–85, held a degree from Exeter College, Oxford and was active in geological and archaeological circles.6 He was a noted expert on the gravels and drainage of the Thames valley,7 and he corresponded with British archaeologists about finds from the Thames/Isis.8

The dagger itself, having been found in the Thames, has no direct associations or context of use. Flint daggers of similar morphology and manufacture have been found in burials across Britain with material dating to the last quarter of the third millennium BC – called the early Bronze Age, Chalcolithic or Beaker period depending on the publication.9 Moreover, in examining the larger corpus of British flint daggers, now known to number around 400, it is apparent that while forty-three have been recovered from burial contexts, a further forty-three have been recovered from rivers, thirty-three of those (including the Henley dagger) from the Thames. Most of the Thames depositions come from Greater London, and the find from Henley is the most upstream find of the Thames daggers.10 Anderson-Whymark notes that the Thames was frequently the site of depositions of contemporary material often associated with the burial sphere in dry contexts, for example Beaker pottery, bone and metal daggers and stone battle axes.11 He argues that the Beaker material from the Thames is not unique, but is simply the continuation of a Neolithic practice of deposition of complete objects, often those with mortuary associations, in the river – an activity which remained in practice through much of the early Bronze Age.12

While it lacks datable or cultural associations, the flint dagger from Henley adds another piece to the puzzle of prehistoric activity in the Thames valley and of flint dagger production and use in Britain. Furthermore, its identification is a reminder of the riches to be found in Oxfordshire’s museums for those with the time, knowledge and inclination to look.

Catherine Frieman

6 M.E.N. Witchell and C.R. Hudleston, An Account of the Principal Branches of the Family of Clutterbuck (1924); above, p. 63.
9 Needham, 'Competing Ethos of Seniority'.
12 Ibid. p. 45.